71519-4

71519-4

No. 71519-4-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DOREEN STARRISH,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KING COUNTY

The Honorable Mary I. Yu

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW
Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

2011/07/21 11:11:18

STATE OF WASHINGTON
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION ONE
KUMMEROW

A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Doreen Starrish was charged with second degree felony murder and possession of heroin after she stabbed her former significant other during an argument. Among other defenses, Ms. Starrish asserted she acted in self-defense. A police detective improperly opined during his testimony regarding witnesses' truthfulness generally, and the truthfulness of one of the State's witness. The court denied Ms. Starrish's motion for a mistrial. She submits the court erred in denying the mistrial motion, thus denying her Fourteenth Amendment right to a fair trial.

Over repeated defense objections, the trial court instructed the jury in the to convict instructions that, if the jury found the elements of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt, it had a duty to convict Ms. Starrish. Ms. Starrish submits use of that instruction violated her Sixth Amendment right to a jury trial. Ms. Starrish asks this Court to reverse her convictions and remand for a new trial.

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Detective Mellis' opinion regarding Mr. Tramble's truthfulness constituted improper vouching.

2. Detective Mellis' opinion regarding Mr. Tramble's truthfulness violated Ms. Starrish's constitutionally protected right to a fair trial and right to a jury.

3. Court's Instructions 8 and 22 violated Ms. Starrish's right to a jury trial under the Washington Constitution.

C. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A witness may not comment or opine about the credibility of another witness. Such improper vouching violates the defendant's right to a fair trial and right to a jury trial. Here, a police officer stated his unsolicited opinion regarding the truthfulness of a witness, thus bolstering the credibility of the witness and attacking the credibility of Ms. Starrish in a case where credibility was the major issue for the jury's determination. Did the officer's unsolicited opinion constitute improper vouching, thus violating Ms. Starrish's right to a fair trial and right to a jury trial?

2. The Washington Constitution provides a greater right to a jury trial than the federal constitution. Jury instructions that mislead the jury regarding its power violate that right to a jury trial. Did the instructions telling the jury it had a "duty" to convict if it found all of

the elements of the offense affirmatively mislead the jury thus violating Ms. Starrish's right to a jury trial under the Washington Constitution?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Doreen Starrish and Aaron Smith met in 2000 as teenagers and began a tempestuous and volatile romantic relationship that was frequently punctuated by oral arguments that flared into physical violence. 8/19/13amRP 42-44; 11/25/13RP 183; 11/26/13RP 21. Neither Ms. Starrish nor Mr. Smith were afraid of the other and fought on equal terms. 8/19/13amRP 54; 11/25/13RP 189. In 2003, the couple decided to have children and had a daughter not too long after; and a second daughter several years later. 8/19/13amRP 11; 11/26/13RP 24.

In 2012, Ms. Starrish and Mr. Smith were no longer romantically involved but remained friends and lived together in a house in Shoreline. At that time, Ms. Starrish was romantically involved with Jonathon Jones. 11/21/13RP 34. Mr. Smith and Mr. Jones knew each other and seemed to get along. 11/21/13RP 35.

In May 2012, also living in the home of Ms. Starrish and Mr. Smith were Dianne Berniard and her boyfriend, Reginald Tramble. 11/19/13RP 15; 11/20/13RP 13-14. Mr. Tramble had known Ms. Starrish for approximately eight years and met Mr. Smith about two

years before that. 11/20/13RP 12-13. Ms. Berniard met Ms. Starrish in 2008 and met Mr. Smith through Ms. Starrish. 11/19/13RP 7. Mr. Tramble and Ms. Berniard were sleeping on the sofa in the living room of the house. 11/19/13RP 16; 11/20/13RP 21.

On the morning of May 3, 2012, Mr. Smith was preparing breakfast and otherwise getting his daughters ready for school. 11/19/13RP 35. Earlier that morning, Ms. Starrish had brought Mr. Jones to the house and the two were in Ms. Starrish's room having sex. 11/19/13RP 33. Mr. Smith became upset at Ms. Starrish, opened the door to her room, called her several derogatory names, and closed the door. 11/19/13RP 36. Shortly thereafter, Mr. Smith again opened the door to Ms. Starrish's room and grabbed an item off of the bed. 11/19/13RP 38. There was a dispute about what this item was: Ms. Berniard claimed it was Ms. Starrish's heroin, while Ms. Starrish testified it was her money to pay for her portion of the rent. Regardless, Mr. Smith's actions made Ms. Starrish angry. 11/19/13RP 40-41.

According to Berniard and Tramble, Ms. Starrish retrieved a knife and advanced on Mr. Smith. 11/19/13RP 42. Mr. Smith took the knife away from Ms. Starrish and threw it aside. *Id.* Ms. Starrish grabbed a second knife and quickly struck Mr. Smith in the chest.

11/19/13RP 43-45. Ms. Starrish and Mr. Jones immediately left.

11/20/13RP 41. Mr. Smith shouted at Ms. Starrish as she left, closed the door, then collapsed. 11/20/13RP 44.

Police officers arriving in response to Ms. Berniard's 911 call found Mr. Smith lying just inside the house suffering a stab wound to the chest. 11/18/13RP 34. Mr. Smith was taken to Harborview Hospital where he died a few days later. 11/18/13RP 35, 69. A subsequent autopsy revealed Mr. Smith died from a stab wound to the chest which penetrated his heart. 11/20/13RP 152-53, 164.

Ms. Starrish was subsequently charged with second degree felony murder by assault, and possession of heroin. CP 88-89. At trial, among other defenses, Ms. Starrish asserted she acted in self-defense. During the testimony of one of the detectives assigned to this case, Mike Mellis of the King County Sheriff's Department, a discussion of the police interview of Mr. Tramble arose:

In this case, I wanted him [Tramble] to know we did have a time crunch with the children, so I was pressuring him to give what he knew quickly because of that element. At that time, nobody knew whether the victim, or the person who was stabbed, was going to survive or not, so I certainly used that as a theme, or way of trying to bring out a truthful statement from him, letting him know there is different scenarios that could happen. If the person survived, heck, maybe that guy wouldn't even want to press charges against whoever stabbed him. If he

died, though, clearly there was going to be a full force, full-on investigation going forward and he had to cooperate. I told him, in the end, you know, "I have been around the block." He mentioned that he had kind of been on the street for a while, in a way, and that he knew – or I encouraged him to recall that, in the end, you know, in court, everybody ends up telling the truth, was my theme with him.

11/20/13RP 216.

Following up, in cross examination, Detective Mellis testified:

Q: You made a statement during your direct testimony that – that in the end, everyone who comes to in court tells the truth. That's not true, is it?

A: No, not always, no.

Q: Well, how many people come to court and perjure themselves? It happens, right?

...

A: Your definition of "many" might be different than mine. People have perjured themselves in court, yes.

Q: Right. So I guess that was one of your tactics to get them to talk to you, you had an emergency, right?

A: I had to get answers accurately out of Mr. Tramble, yes.

Q: All right. And there was a sense of urgency?

A: There was.

Q: Okay. And so, you know, I'm not criticizing you, it was just a tactic to use to tell him that, in the end, everybody is going to tell the truth in court?

A: Yes.

Q: But you know that that's not true?

A: Well, in my experience, sir, when a witness – I'm not talk [sic] about suspects here, but a witness, ultimately, the significant event that they witnessed, it is my experience that, you know, if you are not involved in the crime, whether you are a hardcore gangster – this is the message I was giving him, whether you are a hardcore gangster or a witness on the street, in the end, everybody tells the truth in court.

Q: That's your experience, in the end, everybody tells the truth?

A: The significant witnesses, sir, that's my experience.

...

Q: He [Tramble] told you that it happened outside, he said that it was a verbal argument that happened outside; right?

A: I'm sorry, he said –

Q: I'm asking you, don't you remember if he said there was a verbal argument, that happened outside; right?

A: Yes.

Q: Okay. And that wasn't true, or was it? You don't know?

A: I was left with the impression that I was not getting all of the truth out of Mr. Tramble, that's certainly true.

11/20/13RP 222-24, 226.

As Mellis was the last witness on November 20, 2013, the first thing the next day, Ms. Starrish moved for a mistrial because of the inherent prejudice of Mellis' improper opinions about truthfulness:

Also, I do have a request as well. I'm very concerned about statements made by Detective Mellis during his testimony yesterday.

The State – My impression of the statements that he made were that when he – First of all, when he said – he said two different things that bothered me.

One is that witnesses eventually tell the truth when they come to court.

That is a form of – it's an insidious and subtle form of vouching that is impermissible, objectionable and, frankly, astonishing he would say that.

And two, he made the assertion that the witness Tramble started off lying to him, and eventually told him the truth. And, again, that's another insidious and not-so-subtle form of vouching.

And I think it creates an irreparable problem of vouching, you know; these jurors have a belief that, you know, this is a police officer, no reason to lie.

And they're going to – if he thinks he's telling the truth now, they're going to accept that as the truth, or there's going to be a tendency to do that.

And I would ask two things: First of all, at this time, I'd move for a mistrial based on that.

I don't think there is a curative instruction that can – that can help this problem. They've heard the vouching from the police officer.

And then, in lieu of that, if the Court's not inclined to grant that, I would ask that the witness be carefully instructed, by either the Court or counsel, to avoid anything that approaches that kind of a problem or assertion.

11/21/13RP 2-3. The court denied the motion for a mistrial:

Well, I have the benefit of the full transcript. I am denying the motion for a mistrial. You are both on notice about eliciting further testimony.

Frankly, the whole credibility of that individual is in front of the jury.

So do I think it's prejudicial? I do not. The question of whether any of these witnesses come in here and tell the truth is really the province of the jury.

I do not believe they've been instructed on believing any particular individual.

I would urge you both, and Mr. Perez as well, is if it comes back out again, somebody need to then ask the Court to strike it or leave it in the record or say something about it but, at this point, I don't believe that it rises to the level that would require a mistrial.

11/21/13RP 7-8.

Over repeated objections by Ms. Starrish, pretrial and during discussions about the jury instructions, the court in the to-convict instruction, Court's Instructions 8 and 22, instructed the jury that it has a "duty" to convict. CP 100, 119 ("If you find from the evidence that each of these elements has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt,

then it will be your duty to return a verdict of guilty . . .)(emphasis added). CP 70-86; 11/13/13RP 92-93; 12/5/13RP 6, 9.

At the completion of the trial, the jury found Ms. Starrish guilty as charged. CP 120-22.

E. ARGUMENT

1. **Vouching by a police officer which constituted improper opinion testimony violated Ms. Starrish's right to a jury and right to a fair trial**

a. Improper vouching by police officers violates a defendant's rights to a fair trial and a jury.

The role of the jury is to be held "inviolable." U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, §§ 21, 22. The right to have factual questions decided by the jury is crucial to the right to trial by jury. *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 656, 771 P.2d 711 (1989). Under the constitution, the jury has "the ultimate power to weigh the evidence and determine the facts." *State v. Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d 577, 589-90, 183 P.3d 267 (2008), quoting *James v. Robeck*, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971).

In addition, an accused is guaranteed the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 21, 22. Lay witness opinion testimony about the defendant's guilt invades that

right. *State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn.App. 924, 934, 219 P.3d 958 (2009);
State v. Carlin, 40 Wn.App. 698, 701, 700 P.2d 323 (1985).

Generally, no witness may offer testimony in the form of an opinion regarding the guilt or veracity of the defendant; such testimony is unfairly prejudicial to the defendant “because it ‘inva[de]s the exclusive province of the [jury].’” *City of Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), *citing State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 (1987).

Admitting impermissible opinion testimony regarding the defendant’s guilt may be reversible error because admitting such evidence “violates [the defendant’s] constitutional right to a jury trial, including the independent determination of the facts by the jury.” *Carlin*, 40 Wn.App. at 701; *see also Dubria v. Smith*, 224 F.3d 995, 1001-02 (9th Cir., 2000) (suggesting that the admission of taped interviews containing police statements challenging the defendant’s veracity may also violate the defendant’s right to due process), *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 1148 (2001).

In determining whether such statements are impermissible opinion testimony, courts consider the circumstances of the case, including the following factors: “(1) ‘the type of witness involved,’ (2)

‘the specific nature of the testimony,’ (3) ‘the nature of the charges,’ (4) ‘the type of defense, and’ (5) ‘the other evidence before the trier of fact.’” *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 758-59, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001), quoting *Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. at 579.

There are some areas which are clearly inappropriate for opinion testimony in criminal trials, particularly expressions of personal belief, as to the guilt of the defendant, the intent of the accused, or the veracity of witnesses. *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 759; *State v. Farr-Lenzini*, 93 Wn.App. 453, 463, 970 P.2d 313 (1999).¹ This is especially true for police officers because their testimony carries an “aura of reliability.” *Demery*, 144 Wn.2d at 765. Police officers’ opinions on guilt have low probative value because their area of expertise is in determining when an arrest is justified, not in determining when there is guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. See *Montgomery*, 163 Wn.2d at 595, citing Deon J. Nossel, *Note: the Admissibility of Ultimate Issue Expert Testimony by Law Enforcement Officers in Criminal Trials*, 93 Colum. L.Rev. 231, 244 (1993) (“Once [the expert] had testified as to the likely drug transaction-related significance of each piece of physical evidence, the

¹ This rule is grounded in the Rules of Evidence. Testimony that tells the jury which result to reach is likely not helpful to the jury (as required by ER 702), is probably outside the witness’s area of expertise (in violation of ER 703), and is likely to be unfairly prejudicial (in violation of ER 403).

jury was competent to draw its own conclusion as to [the defendant's] involvement in the distribution of cocaine.” (citing *United States v. Boissoneault*, 926 F.2d 230, 233 (2d Cir.1991)).

- b. Detective Mellis’ opinions regarding the veracity of the truthfulness of witnesses constituted improper vouching and were improper opinion testimony.

Several times during his testimony, Mellis stated his unsolicited opinion regarding witnesses’ truthfulness generally and Tramble’s truthfulness specifically. Mellis’ misguided opinion of Tramble’s truthfulness is precisely the sort of vouching that is improper. The improper vouching by Mellis violated Ms. Starrish’s right to a jury trial and right to a fair trial because it purported to take the issue of Tramble’s credibility away from the jury.

Mellis’ conduct is no different from the two police officers who rendered their opinion that a fact witness was telling the truth when he gave a statement to the police. *State v. Wilber*, 55 Wn.App. 294, 298-99, 777 P.2d 36 (1989). The officers testified that they had been given special training to enable them to determine whether or not someone was telling the truth. Over defense objection, the court allowed them to testify that, in their opinion, the witness was telling the truth when he gave his original statement to the police. *Wilber*, 55 Wn.App. at 297.

While the Court of Appeals found the opinion testimony evidence harmless, the Court nevertheless found the testimony improper. *Id.* at 298-99.

Mellis' opinion testimony was improper. This Court should reverse Ms. Starrish's convictions.

c. The error in allowing Detective Mellis' improper opinion testimony was not a harmless error.

Since improper opinions on guilt invade the jury's province and thus violate the defendant's constitutional right, courts apply the constitutional harmless error standard to determine if the error was harmless. *State v. Hudson*, 150 Wn.App. 646, 656, 208 P.3d 1236 (2009); *State v. Thach*, 126 Wn.App. 297, 312-13, 106 P.3d 782 (2005). Under this standard it is presumed that constitutional errors are prejudicial, and the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. *State v. Watt*, 160 Wn.2d 626, 635, 160 P.3d 640 (2007); *Thach*, 126 Wn.App. at 313.

The critical issues for the jury in this case were whether Ms. Starrish was acting in self-defense and the resulting credibility of Ms. Starrish, Tramble and Berniard and Mr. Jones, the only witnesses to the event. In fact, in closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury:

“Credibility is what this case came down to.” 12/5/13RP 21. Mellis’ misguided opinions likely tipped the scale in favor of the State by bolstering the credibility of Tramble and, as a result, questioning the credibility of Ms. Starrish.

This was the theme of the State in closing argument: Ms. Starrish was not credible because Tramble and Berniard were:

One of the most troubling things is that she [Ms. Starrish] has come before you trying to blame Aaron Smith for his own death by trying to create a version of events that is simply not correct. That Aaron Smith was threatening her or assaulting her that morning, which is why she stabbed him.

A version of events that is not supported by her friends, Reggie Tramble and Diane Berniard. It is not even supported by her boyfriend, Jonathon Jones.

Ms. Berniard and Mr. Tramble came before you and told you what happened that morning. They told you the defendant was the aggressor. She came storming out of her room that morning furious with Aaron Smith: Give me back my shit, Aaron; I’m not F-ing around, Aaron; I’m going to stab you, Aaron.

12/5/13RP 14-15; 18-21.

Given this emphasis on the credibility of Tramble and Berniard, it would be improbable the State could prove beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result absent the error. Ms. Starrish asks this Court to reverse her convictions.

2. **The court’s instruction telling the jury it had a duty to convict misstated the law and violated Ms. Starrish’s rights under the Washington Constitution**

- a. The Washington Constitution’s right to a jury trial is more protective than its federal counterpart.

The Washington Constitution guarantees the “inviolable” right to a jury trial in criminal cases: “The right of trial by jury shall remain inviolable . . .” Const. Art. I, § 21. In addition, “In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right . . . to have a speedy public trial by an impartial jury.” Const. Art I, § 22.

“Once this court has determined that a particular provision of the state constitution has an independent meaning using the factors outlined in [*State v.*] *Gunwall*, [106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986),] it need not reconsider whether to apply a state constitutional analysis in a new context.” *State v. McKinney*, 148 Wn.2d 20, 26, 60 P.3d 46 (2002), citing *State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343, 348, 979 P.2d 833 (1999). The Supreme Court has conducted an independent state analysis of the jury trial right under article I, sections 21 and 22, in *State v. Smith*, 150 Wn.2d 135, 75 P.3d 934 (2003). In *Smith*, the Court held that the language of the Washington Constitution, its structure, and its textual difference from the United States Constitution all indicate that

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