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

C. ARGUMENT 

1. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT 
DETECTIVE MIKE MELLIS EXPRESSED HIS 
PERSONAL OPINION THAT SHE WAS GUILTY OF 
MURDER 

The defendant contends that her conviction must be 

reversed because, while testifying, Detective Mike Mellis expressed 

his personal opinion that she was guilty of murder. The defendant's 

claim fails for multiple reasons. First, whatever opinion Detective 

Mellis did express was elicited by the defendant during cross-

examination, and thus, under the invited error doctrine, the 

defendant is precluded from raising this issue on appeal. Second, 

Detective Mellis neither expressed his personal opinion as to the 

defendant's guilt or as to the credibility of the testimony of any 

particular witness. In fact, there is nothing in the record to suggest 

that Detective Mellis was even aware of the substance of any 

witness' testimony. And third, any error was clearly harmless. 
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a. The Testimony Of Detective Mellis 

During direct examination of Detective Mike Mellis, the 

prosecutor questioned the detective about the different tactics or 

themes he used in trying to obtain information from Reginald 

Tramble regarding the whereabouts of the missing children and the 

facts surrounding the stabbing of Smith. 1 ORP 215. Detective 

Mellis' questioning of Tramble occurred the morning of the stabbing 

when time was of the essence because there was an Amber Alert 

out for the two children, and at a time when it was unknown who 

had stabbed Smith. 10RP 214. 

In this case, I wanted him [Tramble] to know we did 
have a time crunch with the children, so I was 
pressuring him to give what he knew quickly because of 
that element. At that time, nobody knew whether the 
victim, or the person who was stabbed, was going to 
survive or not, so I certainly used that as a theme, or a 
way of trying to bring out a truthful statement from him, 
letting him know there is different scenarios that could 
happen. If the person survived, heck, maybe that guy 
wouldn't even want to press charges against whoever 
stabbed him. If he died, though, clearly, there was 
going to be a full force, full-on investigation going 
forward and he had to cooperate. I told him, in the end, 
you know, "I have been around the block." He 
mentioned that he had kind of been on the street for a 
while, in a way, and that he knew - or I encouraged him 
to recall that, in the end, you know, in court, everybody 
ends up telling the truth, was the theme with him. So 
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there was several themes going forward in talking to 
him. 

10RP 216. 

Counsel on appeal does not allege that when Detective 

Mellis was discussing the interviewing tactics he used in 

questioning Tramble, the detective was expressing his opinion 

about the guilt of the defendant or the truthfulness of Tramble's trial 

testimony. What the defendant complains about on appeal 

happened during cross-examination by defense counsel. 2 

Defense Counsel: When you first spoke to Reggie 
Tramble ... did you know that he had a conviction for 
lying to the police? 

Detective Mellis: No. 

Defense Counsel: Okay. And I think you testified you 
don't know if they [Tramble and Berniard] were 
separated at all times? 

Detective Mellis: No, I'm unaware of how they were 
handled specifically before I got to the scene. 

2 Tramble never did tell Detective Mellis that the defendant stabbed Smith or that 
he saw what happened. Detective Mellis testified that for about half the 
interview, Tramble professed that he had not seen anything, that he had been 
asleep on the couch. 1 ORP 218. Detective Mellis said Tramble later changed 
his story, saying that he assumed the defendant must have stabbed Smith 
because he heard them arguing. 10RP 218. Detective Mellis testified that he 
finally gave up trying to interview Tramble and moved on to interviewing 
Berniard. 10RP 219. 
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Defense Counsel: So for all you know, the two of them 
may have had the opportunity to talk before they met 
with you? 

Detective Mellis: Clearly they had the opportunities to 
talk. 

Defense Counsel: Right. Okay. You made a 
statement during your direct testimony that in the end 
everyone who comes in court tells the truth. That's not 
true, is it? 

Detective Mellis: No, not always, no. 

Defense Counsel: Well, many people come to court 
and perjure themselves. It happens, right? 

Detective Mellis: Is that a question? 

Defense Counsel: Yes. 

Detective Mellis: Your definition of "many" might be 
different than mine. People have perjured themselves 
in court, yes. 

Defense Counsel: Right. So I guess that was one of 
your tactics to get them to talk to you, and you had an 
emergency, right? You had these kids, this Amber 
Alert, you had to get answers really quickly, right? 

Detective Mellis: I had to get answers accurately out of 
Mr. Tramble, yes. 

Defense Counsel: All right. And there was a sense of 
urgency? 

Detective Mellis: There was. 
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Defense Counsel: Okay. And so, you know, I'm not 
criticizing you, it was just a tactic to use to tell him that, 
in the end, everyone is going to tell the truth in court? 

Detective Mellis: Yes. 

Defense Counsel: But you know that that's not true? 

Detective Mellis: Well, in my experience, sir, when a 
witness -- I'm not talking about suspects here, but a 
witness, ultimately, the significant event that they 
witness, it is my experience that, you know, if you are 
not involved in the crime, whether you are a hard-core 
gangster -- this is the message I was giving him, 
whether you are a hard-core gangster or a witness on 
the street, in the end, everyone tells the truth in court. 

Defense Counsel: That's your experience, in the end, 
everyone tells the truth? 

Detective Mellis: The significant witnesses, sir, that's 
my experience. 

Defense Counsel: Everybody? And that's been your, 
how long have you been a detective? 

Detective Mellis: A long time, sir. 

Defense Counsel: When was the last time you had a 
witness who lied in court that you are aware of? 

Detective Mellis: I'm not sure, sir. 

Defense Counsel: [H]e said that it was a verbal argument 
that happened outside; right? 

Detective Mellis: I'm sorry, he said --
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Defense Counsel: I'm asking you, don't you remember if he 
said there was a verbal argument that happened outside; 
right? 

Detective Mellis: Yes. 

Defense Counsel: Okay. And that wasn't true, or was it? 
You don't know? 

Detective Mellis: I was left with the impression that I was not 
getting all of the truth out of Mr. Tramble, that's certainly 
true. 

1 ORP 222-24, 226. 

The next day, defense counsel brought a motion for a 

mistrial based on the answers Detective Mellis gave during his 

cross-examination. 11 RP 2-3. However, before the prosecutor 

could even respond, the judge asked defense counsel, "let me ask 

you: Do you not think that you play a role in eliciting the testimony 

and how you pose the questions to that detective in terms of asking 

him about truthfulness, and the whole scope of his interrogation of 

this individual?" 11 RP 3. In response, defense counsel claimed 

that he would be ineffective if he had to worry about the detective's 

responses to his questions, and, in any event, "there's nothing in 

my questions that suggested or invited this kind of response." 
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11 RP 4, 7. The judge responded, "[w]ell, I have the benefit of the 

full transcript." 11 RP 7. 3 

The judge denied the defendant's motion for a mistrial, 

stating, among other things, that she could find no prejudice from 

what occurred. 11 RP 7-8. She also noted that the jurors would be 

properly instructed that they were the sole judges of the credibility 

of the witnesses. 11 RP 7-9. Later, the judge specifically instructed 

the jury that "[y]ou are the sole judges of the credibility of each 

3 Defense counsel had already employed a similar cross-examination technique 
with one of the responding police officers: 

Defense Counsel: Now as a police officer, you take many witness 
statements? 

Deputy Mark Souza: Yes. 

Defense Counsel: Part of your traditional duties? 

Deputy Souza: Yes. 

Defense Counsel: Sometimes witnesses lie to you in these statements? 

Deputy Souza: Sometimes. 

Defense Counsel: Sometimes they tell you the truth? 

Deputy Souza: Sometimes. 

Defense Counsel: Sometimes they exaggerate the truth? 

Deputy Souza: Had that happen too. 

Defense Counsel: At the scene, Reggie [Tramble] was consistent that he 
had not seen what happened? 

Deputy Souza: That's what he told me. 

Defense Counsel: You had no reason to doubt his statement at that time? 

Prosecutor: Your Honor, I'm going to object to commenting on credibility. 

The Court: I'm going to go ahead and sustain the objection. 

7RP 53-54. 
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witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be 

given to the testimony of each witness." CP 92. 

b. The General Legal Principles 

Testimony in the form of an opinion or inference is 

admissible under certain circumstances. See, e.g., ER 701 ;4 

ER 702.5 This is true even where the opinion "embraces an 

ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." State v. Quaale, 

_ Wn.2d _, 340 P.3d 213, 216 (2014) (citing ER 704). The 

opinion evidence must be "otherwise admissible" and is therefore 

subject to the requirements of ER 401,6 ER 403,7 ER 701, and 

ER 702. State v. Jones, 59 Wn. App. 744, 750 n.2, 801 P.2d 263 

(1990), rev. denied, 116 Wn.2d 1021 (1991 ). At the same time, as 

4 ER 701 permits a lay witness to testify in the form of opinions or inferences that 
are "rationally based on the perception of the witness," are "helpful to a clear 
understanding of the witness' testimony or the determination of a fact in issue," 
and are not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. State 
v. Montgomery, 163 Wn.2d 577, 591, 183 P.3d 267 (2008). 

5 ER 702 permits an expert witness to provide opinion testimony where the 
opinion is based on scientific theory that is generally accepted in the scientific 
community and the testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact. State v. Rafay, 
168 Wn. App. 734, 784, 285 P 3d 83 (2012), rev. denied, 176 Wn.2d 1023 
(2013). 

6 Under ER 401, "[e)vidence is relevant if it has any tendency to make any fact 
that is of consequence to the case more or less likely than without the evidence." 
State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 858, 83 P.3d 970 (2004). 

7 Under ER 403, relevant evidence is admissible unless its "probative value is 
substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the 
issues, or misleading the jury." Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 224, 867 P.2d 
610 (1994). 
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a general rule, no witness, lay or expert, may "testify to his opinion 

as to the guilt of a defendant, whether by direct statement or 

inference." State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 348, 745 P.2d 12 

(1987). 

Because opinion testimony is allowed even if it pertains to an 

ultimate issue of fact, it is not always easy to determine whether the 

opinion crosses the line into an improper opinion of guilt. For 

example, in a DUI case, an officer was permitted to opine that the 

suspect was "obviously intoxicated," and could not drive safely 

because the officer's opinion was based on his observations and 

field sobriety testing and because it was opinion as to an ultimate 

fact rather than an opinion that the defendant was guilty. City of 

Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn. App. 573, 854 P.2d 658 (1993), rev. 

denied, 123 Wn.2d 1011 (1994). In contrast, in State v. Garrison, 

the trial court properly refused to allow the proprietor of a 

burglarized tavern to give his opinion as to whether Garrison was 

one of the parties who participated in the burglary of his tavern. 

The Court stated that: 

The question literally asked the witness to express an 
opinion on whether or not the appellant was guilty of 
the crime charged. Obviously this question was 

- 21 -
1502-23 Starrish COA 



solely for the jury and was not the proper subject of 
either lay or expert opinion. 

71 Wn.2d 312, 315, 427 P.2d 1012 (1967). 

Finally, the granting or denial of a motion for a mistrial is left 

to the sound discretion of the trial court and will be overturned only 

upon a showing of an abuse of discretion. State v. Davenport, 100 

Wn.2d 757, 762, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984). An abuse of discretion is 

shown when the reviewing court is satisfied that "no reasonable 

judge would have reached the same conclusion." State v. Hopson, 

113 Wn.2d 273, 284, 778 P.2d 1014 (1989). 

c. The Doctrine Of Invited Error 

A party may not set up an error at trial and then complain 

about the error on appeal. State v. Henderson, 114 Wn.2d 867, 

870, 792 P.2d 514 (1990) (quoting State v. Pam, 101 Wn.2d 507, 

511, 680 P.2d 762 (1984)). Known as the invited error doctrine, the 

doctrine is "a 'strict rule' to be applied in every situation where the 

defendant's actions at least in part cause the error." State v. 

Summers, 107 Wn. App. 373, 381-82, 28 P.3d 780 (2001) (quoting 

State v. Studd, 137 Wn.2d 533, 547, 973 P.2d 1049 (1999)). This 

doctrine applies even where the alleged error raises constitutional 
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issues. State v. Boyer, 91 Wn.2d 342, 344-45, 588 P.2d 1151 

(1979). 

One example of the application of the invited error doctrine is 

where the error results from questioning of a witness by the 

defense. See State v. Vandiver, 21 Wn. App. 269, 273, 584 P.2d 

978 (1978) (appellate review denied because the complained of 

testimony came from two officers who were responding to 

questions asked by defense counsel). 

Here, all of the complained of testimony came during cross

examination of Detective Mellis by defense counsel. Even though 

Detective Mellis clearly testified that he told Tramble that "in the 

end ... in court, everybody ends up telling the truth," as a tactic to try 

to get him to provide information during his interview, defense 

counsel questioned Detective Mellis on the validity of such a 

proposition. 10RP 216, 222-24. Defense counsel asked Detective 

Mellis if the statement that "in the end everyone who comes into 

court tells the truth ... [t]hat's not true, is it?" to which the detective 

responded "no." 10RP 222. This likely would have been a good 

place to end, but counsel did not. Instead, defense counsel 

continued to question Detective Mellis as to his opinion about 

wheth~r and how many people perjure themselves in court. 
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1 ORP 223-24. It is the answers to these questions that the 

defendant objects. Under the invited error doctrine, the defendant 

is barred from raising this issue on appeal. 

d. Detective Mellis Did Not Opine That The 
Defendant Was Guilty 

At worst, when Detective Mellis testified, he opined generally 

about witnesses testifying at trial, and that in his experience, they 

told the truth the majority of the time. This did not mean that the 

detective believed Tramble, Berniard, Jones, or any other witness 

had told the truth when they testified in this case. In fact, witnesses 

were excluded from the courtroom during trial. 3RP 15-16. Thus, 

Detective Mellis had not been present to hear the testimony of any 

witness and could not have opined as to whether they had told the 

truth or not when he did not even know what they had said. 

Detective Mellis also never opined that Starrish was guilty of 

murder. He was never asked, nor did he opine, that the stabbing 

could not have been an act of self-defense or an accident. 

Detective Mellis' statement that most witnesses tell the truth 

was testimony that was not relevant under ER 401. If one were to 

ignore the fact that, if error, it was invited, the error would be a 

simple evidentiary error, testimony that should have been excluded 
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under ER 401, because it lacked relevance, or ER 403, because 

whatever limited probative value it had did not outweigh whatever 

limited prejudicial value the testimony had. But there was no 

objection at the time and motion to strike the testimony. 

e. Any Error Was Harmless 

Evidentiary error is not prejudicial "unless, within reasonable 

probabilities, the outcome of the trial would have been materially 

affected had the error not occurred." State v. Bourgeois, 133 

Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997). The trial court sits in the 

best position to determine the prejudicial effect of evidence. State 

v. Powell, 166 Wn.2d 73, 81, 206 P.3d 321 (2009). Here, the trial 

court found none. This is not surprising considering the general 

nature of Detective Mellis' statements about witnesses testifying. 

Further, as the trial court noted, the jurors were instructed that they 

were the sole judges of the credibility of the witnesses. Jurors are 

presumed to follow the court's instructions. State v. Lough, 125 

Wn.2d 847, 864, 889 P.2d 487 (1995). The trial court did not abuse 

its discretion in denying the defendant's motion for a mistrial 

because the "opinion" of Detective Mellis, if it was an opinion and 

improper, was not prejudicial. 
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2. THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT 
ALL OF THE WPIC "TO CONVICT" JURY 
INSTRUCTIONS ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL. 

The defendant contends that language in the "to convict"

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